Defense Gene Responses Toward Necrotrophic Fungi in Arabidopsis thaliana

Hanneke Marjolijn Peele

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Plant Biology Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2015 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2015:75

Cover: Drawing of an *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedling. (photo: H. Peele)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8348-9 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8349-6 © 2015 Hanneke Marjolijn Peele, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2015

Defense gene responses toward necrotrophic fungi in Arabidopsis thaliana

Abstract

Leptosphaeria maculans an ascomycete in the diverse class of Dothideomycetes, is an devastating pathogen on Brassica crops. In this thesis, tools and knowledge in Arabidopsis thaliana was explored to enhance our knowledge on plant defense to this fungus. Mechanisms that to large extent are shared with other necrotrophic fungi. Plants have evolved disease resistance (R) genes encoding for nucleotide-binding site (NB) and leucinerich repeat (LRR) proteins with N-terminals represented by either Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) or coiled-coil (CC) domains. A genome-wide study of presence and diversification of CC-NB-LRR and TIR-NB-LRR encoding genes, and shorter domain combinations in 19 Arabidopsis thaliana accessions and Arabidopsis lyrata, Capsella rubella, Brassica rapa and Eutrema salsugineum were performed. Out of 528 R genes analyzed, 12 CC-NB-LRR and 17 TIR-NB-LRR genes were conserved among the 19 A. thaliana genotypes, while only two CC-NB-LRRs, including ZAR1, and three TIR-NB-LRRs were conserved when comparing the five species. The resistance to Leptosphaeria maculans 1 (RLM1) locus confers resistance to L. maculans and has experienced conservation and diversification events particularly in B. rapa. RLM3 is unique in comparison to other characterized R proteins due to its three brevis radix (BRX) domains adjacent to the TIR and the NB domains. Three homologs were found in Camelina sativa that diverged from Arabidopsis ~17 million years ago. The BRX domains are able to interact with RLM3 possibly regulating downstream defense signaling responses.

Two A. thaliana mutants, being susceptible to L. maculans (lms1 and lms5) were further characterized. LMS1 encodes a lipid phosphate phosphatase-like protein but lacks phosphatidic acid phosphatase activity. LMS1 is localized in the plasma membrane where it interacts through the third motif of the phospatidic phosphatase domain with the salicylic acid binding protein 3 (SABP3). SABP3 mutagenesis abolishes the interaction with LMS1. The *lms1* mutant displays enhanced susceptibility to diverse pathogens, and high endogenous levels of SA and JA were found upon pathogen challenge. The LMS1-SABP3 interaction is central to maintain accurate JA and SA hormone homeostasis and defense signaling to necrotrophic pathogens. Mapping and genomic resequencing of the *lms5* mutant revealed a mutation in a prolyl oligopeptidase (POP1) gene. POP1 interacts with the glycolate oxidase 1 protein, a regulator of hydrogen peroxide production. Upon fungal challenge levels of callose and indole-acetic acid (IAA) were elevated in *lms5* compared to wild-type. The data highlight the importance of a balanced redox and auxin homeostasis to counteract invasion of L. maculans. In conclusion, this thesis work has revealed new defense genes, intricate interactions and signaling forming an important platform for future research and application in molecular breeding.

Keywords: Arabidopsis, Brassicaceae, defense responses, fungi, hormones, R genes

Author's address: Hanneke Marjolijn Peele, SLU, Department of Plant biology, P.O. Box 7080, 75007 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* hanneke.peele@ slu.se Courage is not the absence of fear, but rather the judgment that something is more important than fear. The brave may not live forever, but the cautious do not live at all.

Meg Cabot

Contents

List of Publications 7				
1	Introduction	9		
1.1	1 The Brassicaceae family			
	1.1.1 Taxonomy	10		
	1.1.2 Genomes and evolution	11		
	1.1.3 Arabidopsis thaliana	12		
	1.1.4 The Brassica genus	13		
1.2	Sequencing and crop improvement	14		
	1.2.1 Advances in next generation sequencing	14		
	1.2.2 Crop improvements	15		
	1.2.3 Pathogens that attack Brassica crops and their genomes	16		
	1.2.4 Effectoromics and transcriptomics	17		
1.3	Defense responses	18		
	1.3.1 Resistance genes and their evolution	18		
	1.3.2 Salicylic acid and other phytohormones	19		
2	Aims of the study	21		
3	Results and Discussion	23		
3.1	R gene repertoires	23		
	3.1.1 A core set of 29 R genes in nineteen A. thaliana accessions (I)	23		
	3.1.2 Five <i>R</i> genes are conserved in five <i>Brassicaceae</i> species (I)	23		
	3.1.3 The <i>RLM1</i> locus is partly conserved	24		
	3.1.4 RLM3 interacts with the BRX protein	24		
3.2	LMS1 and its role in defense (III)	25		
	3.2.1 LMS1 and necrotrophic filamentous pathogens	25		
	3.2.2 LMS1 interacts with a SA-binding protein	25		
	3.2.3 Insights into antagonistic effects between SA and JA	26		
3.3	A prolyl oligopeptidase is involved in defense against <i>L. maculans</i> (IV)			
4	Conclusions	29		
5	Future perspectives	31		
References				

Acknowledgements

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Peele HM, Guan N, Fogelqvist J, Dixelius C. (2014) Loss and retention of resistance genes in five species of the *Brassicaceae* family. *BMC Plant Biol.* 14:298.
- II Peele HM, Bejai S, Montiel V, Dixelius C. The resistance gene landscape in An-1 and the importance of the BRX domains (manuscript).
- III Peele HM, Bejai S, Oide S, Persson M, Guan N, Montiel V, Dixelius C. LEPTOSPHAERIA MACULANS SUSCEPTIBLE 1 modulates salicylic acid and jasmonic acid defense signaling to necrotrophic pathogens in Arabidopsis (manuscript).
- IV Bejai S, Guan N, Peele HM, Kaliff Stenberg M, Dixelius C. POP1, a prolyl oligopeptidase essential for the redox homeostasis in response to the fungus *Leptosphaeria maculans* (manuscript).

Papers I is reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Hanneke Peele to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Taken part in the planning and performed all the experiments and most of the analysis. Wrote a large part of the paper.
- II Taken part in planning, performed a large part of the experiments and analysis. Wrote part of the paper.
- III Taken part in planning, performed a subset of the experiments and analysis. Wrote part of the paper.
- IV Taken part in planning, performed a subset of the experiments and analysis. Wrote part of the paper.

1 Introduction

During its lifetime, a plant is constantly challenged with abiotic (e.g. drought, wind, frost) and biotic stresses (insects and micro-organisms). The latter comprise mainly fungi, but also bacteria, oomycetes, nematodes and viruses. In agriculture, the losses due to pathogen infections can be extensive, which is particularly severe for people relying on a single crop as a food source mainly within developing countries (Oerke, 2005; Savary et al., 2012). To minimize disease in crop plants in a profitable and sustainable way, resistant varieties need to be used and in most plant breeding programs the selection of these varieties is a major element. New tools are continuously developed to dissect complex traits (reviewed in Araus and Cairns, 2013), but since pathogens change over space and time, resistant crop varieties can often only be used for a short period of time. Producing crops that are resistant over a longer time period is one of the most difficult aspects in producing pathogen resistant crops (Strange and Scott, 2005). Introducing resistance genes from a resistant crop into a susceptible crop can be very time consuming, taking often more than over 10 years and is therefore costly. Within this timespan the pathogen might already have overcome the resistance to be deployed. Overcoming resistance in plants has also been attributed on the reduced genetic variety in crops used for plant breeding in comparison to their wild relatives. Genetic bottlenecks are not unusual for crops that underwent domestication (Ladizinsky, 1998). Thus to ensure global food security, understanding plant-pathogen interaction is of great importance to battle the fast evolving pathogenic populations (reviewed in Boyd et al., 2013).

This thesis focuses on different aspects in plant immunity, highlighting the evolution of resistance genes within the family *Brassicaceae*. Additionally a gene important in the switch between two phytohormone responses in plant defense against necrotrophic filamentous pathogens; salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonic acid (JA) and a prolyl oligopeptidase involved in defense against the fungus *Leptosphaeria maculans* is described.

1.1 The Brassicaceae family

1.1.1 Taxonomy

The *Brassicaceae* family includes many economically important crop species used as oilseed (feed and biofuel), vegetable, condiment and fodder comprising approximately 321 genera and about 3660 species (Al-Shehbaz, 2012). Within the family nearly all members contain six stamens, often two shorter than the others, petals in the shape of a cross (or cruciform) and two-part fruits referred to as siliques (Beilstein *et al.*, 2006). Within the *Brassicaceae*, the genus *Brassica* including mustard, broccoli, cauliflower, turnip, rapeseed and several varieties of cabbage represent the best known crops being grown and consumed worldwide. Radish, horseradish, cress, watercress, rucola and wasabi that belong to a different genus are examples of other widely used crops.

The acknowledgement of the benefits of different species within the Brassicaceae has not stopped there. With the climate change and depleting fossil fuel stocks the importance of alternatives has been an interesting field of research for decades. In the case of aviation fuel used for planes, expenditure is steadily rising covering a large sector of the fossil fuel consumption (Kallio et al., 2014). A reduction of greenhouse gas emissions with biodiesel usage (Li and Mupondwa, 2014) would diminish the environmental impact of aviation fuel significantly. Several promising candidates are currently exploited as a biofuel in planes. For example, Brassica carinata was used to fuel a plane in 2012 without the addition of kerosene (APA). As well as Camelina sativa which was used in a mixture with kerosene in several flights (Kagale et al., 2014a). Field pennycress (Thlaspi arvense) which can overwinter as a rosette and flowers in spring, produces up to 1300kg/hectare of seed usable for oil production (Sedbrook et al., 2014). Additionally it can be grown on soil used for summer annual crops increasing the usage of arable land. Very recently, the genome sequence of T. arvense became available with the aim of domesticating this new winter oilseed crop (Dorn et al., 2015).

The *Brassicaceae* family includes several model species, with *Arabidopsis thaliana* as the most extensively used within the different disciplines of plant biology. Other increasingly important model species are *Arabidopsis halleri* and *Noccaea caerulescence* which have been used to study tolerance to heavy metals and hyper-accumulation, while the *Eutrema/Thellungiella* species have been studied in salt stress response (reviewed in Amtmann, 2009; Pollard *et al.,* 2014). The origin of the adaptation to extreme conditions is an important emphasis in all plant research (Koenig and Weigel, 2015).

1.1.2 Genomes and evolution

The clear phylogeny within the *Brassicaceae* family and the small genome sizes motivated the sequencing of different members in this family in the last decade (Table 1). Sequencing efforts has also included usage of different accessions or genotypes of the same species. *Brassicaceae* was probably shaped by an ancient whole-genome-duplication (At- α) ~47 mya (Kagale *et al.*, 2014b), distinguishing it from the *Aethionemeae* family (Figure 1). Most of the

Species	Genome size	Gene models	Reference	
Aethionema arabicum	240 Mb	23,167	Haudry et al., 2013	
Arabidopsis halleri	220 Mb	26,911	Akama et al., 2014	
Arabidopsis lyrata	230 Mb	27,379	Hu et al., 2011	
Arabidopsis thaliana	135Mb	28,710	AGI, 2000	
Arabis alpina	370 Mb	22,032	Lobréaux et al., 2014	
Boechera stricta	197 Mb	43,370	Boechera stricta v1.2, DOE-JGI	
Brassica napus	712 Mb	101,040	Chalhoub et al., 2014	
Brassica oleraceae	696 Mb	59,225	Ayele et al., 2005;	
			Liu et al., 2014;	
			Parkin et al., 2014	
Brassica rapa	529 Mb	41,174	Wang et al., 2011	
Camelina sativa	785 Mb	89,418	Kagale et al., 2014a	
Capsella rubella	216 Mb	26,521	Slotte et al., 2013	
Capsella grandiflora	112 Mb	26,561	Slotte et al., 2013	
Eutrema salsugineum*	314 Mb	26,521	Yang et al., 2013b	
Leavenworthia alabamica	316 Mb	30,343	Haudry et al., 2013	
Neslia paniculata	113 Mb	-	Slotte et al., 2013	
Raphanus raphanistrum	515 Mb	38,174	Moghe et al., 2014	
Raphanus sativus L.	573 Mb	61,572	Kitashiba et al., 2014	
Schrenkiella parvula**	140 Mb	28,901	Dassanayake et al., 2011	
Sisymbrium irio	262 Mb	28,917	Haudry et al., 2013	
Thlaspi arvense	539 Mb	27,390	Dorn et al., 2015	

Table 1. Genomic sequences released within the *Brassicaceae* family.

* previously *Thellungiella halophila;* ** previously *Thellungiela/Eutrema parvula/parvulum* - (unknown).

duplicated genes were however lost before the divergence of the 3660 species (Edger and Pires, 2009; Schnable *et al.*, 2012; Haudry *et al.*, 2013) resulting in an ancestor with a medium-sized genome of ~500Mb with a diploid karyotype of 8 chromosomes split into 24 crucifer genomic blocks (A-X) (Schranz *et al.*, 2006; Lysak *et al.*, 2009). Three lineages have been described in the core depending on their evolutionary history (Beilstein *et al.*, 2006; Franzke *et al.*,



Figure 1. Phylogeny of the currently sequenced species within the main lineage I and II in *Brassicaceae*. Data from figure is a compilation of results from Beilstein *et al.*, 2006; Busch *et al.*, 2012; Franzke *et al.*, 2011; Haudry *et al.*, 2013; Kagale *et al.*, 2014b; Moghe *et al.*, 2014. The whole genome duplication distinguishing *A. arabicum* with the core *Brassicaceae* (At- α), the whole genome triplication in *Brassica* species (Br- α), *L. alabamica* (La- α) and *C. sativa* (Ca- α) are given. The coloured dots represent split estimates.

2011). Currently only the genomes from lineage I and II have been sequenced (Franzke *et al.*, 2011). Lineage I is represented by the model species *A*. *thaliana* and the more well-known *Brassica* genus can be found in lineage II.

Many characteristics within *Brassicaceae* have originated independently, including the transition to selfing in several of the species and the removal of fertilization in the Boechera species (Rushworth et al., 2011). Numerous chromosomal rearrangements occurred between the Brassicaceae genomes exemplified in a comparison between Arabidopsis lyrata and A. thaliana and between B. napus in comparison to B. oleracea and B. rapa (Chalhoub et al., 2014). However, some genomes revealed high similarity, as was observed in a comparison between the genomes of B. oleracea and B. rapa (Parkin et al., 2014). The sequencing of the three Brassica crops also gave some insights in genes selected during domestication, revealing FLOWERING LOCUS C (FLC) with one copy in A. thaliana, four in B. rapa and B. oleracea and nine in B. napus corresponded to OTLs in flowering time (Zou et al., 2012). After divergence, several species underwent triplication, represented by the Brassica genus, C. sativa and Leavenworthia alabamica (Ba- α , Ca- α and La- α). In Brassica species this was followed by massive gene loss and reshuffling of the genomes.

1.1.3 Arabidopsis thaliana

Since the first paper published on *A. thaliana* (Laibach, 1943), this flowering plant has been increasingly exploited in numerous aspects within plant biology and is considered to be the major biological model for plants (Sommerville and

Koornneef, 2002). The different *A. thaliana* accessions, representing the *A. thaliana* plants found throughout Europe, Asia and North America have adjusted to many different environments and resulted in extensive diversity within several physiological traits e.g. flowering time and tolerance to different abiotic stresses (e.g. Zhen and Ungerer, 2008; Brachi *et al.*, 2013). The vast collection of accessions especially within Europe (http://1001genomes.org) resulted in the functional annotation of many different genes using forward genetics. For example the *RESISTANCE AGAINST L. MACULANS 3 (RLM3)* gene was found absent in the accession An-1 resulting in a diseased phenotype when challenged with *L. maculans* (Staal *et al.*, 2006).

Even with the extensive *A. thaliana* accession collection, the Columbia or Col and to some extent the Landsberg *erecta* (Ler) accessions have predominantly been used (Alonso-Blanco and Koornneef, 2000). Especially the Col-0 accession which the reference genome is based on (AGI, 2000). The availability of thousands of mutants in this background as well as other data including microarray and information on many different physiological (e.g. development of different organs) and biochemical characteristics (e.g. hormone levels) are outstanding resources in plant biology.

Since numerous genes have been discovered using *A. thaliana*, it has become increasingly apparent that the use of only one wild type creates a bias. In the recent sequencing of 18 different accessions of *A. thaliana*, novel genes with similarity to *A. lyrata* and other *Brassicaceae* species were identified (Gan *et al.*, 2011). Among 180 accessions collected in Sweden, 200-300 additional genes not identified in Col-0 were identified (Long *et al.*, 2013), underlying again the great resource the different natural accessions represent. Therefore the discovery of genes expressed in a variety of accessions but not in the wild type suggested the importance of sequencing and re-annotating individual genomes.

1.1.4 The Brassica genus

The genus *Brassica* and its varieties have a tremendous morphological variability within the roots, stems, leaves, buds, flowers and seeds (Warwick, 2011). The well-known cultivated *B. oleracea* for example can be divided in kales (var. *acephala*), cabbage (var. *capitata*, *sabauda* and *bullata*), kohlrabi (var. *gongylodes*), inflorescence kales like cauliflower, broccoli (var. *botrytis*, *italic*), branching bush kales (var. *fruticose*) and Chinese kale. Most of the *Brassica* species originated in the Mediterranean-Middle Eastern area, while the differentiation of *B. rapa* and *B. juncea* was believed to have taken place in China (Prakash and Hinata, 1980). Of the cultivated crops, *B. napus* (oilseed rape) is one of the most important edible oil crop produced worldwide, mainly in Europe, Asia and Canada (FAOSTAT). In total, an area of more than 36 million hectares was used for *B. napus* production in 2013 which reached over 70 million tons of harvested rapeseed.

The widely cultivated *Brassica* species are described according to their genome composition referred to as the A, B and C genomes forming the

'triangle of U' (U, 1935). Within this triangle three diploid species are represented by *B. rapa* (2n = 20, A genome), *B. nigra* (2n = 16, B genome) and *B. oleracea* (2n =18, C genome). Through hybridization, the amphidiploid species *B. juncea* (2n =36, A and B genomes), *B. napus* (2n =38, A and C genomes) and *B. carinata* (2n =34, B and C genomes) were formed. These six widely cultivated *Brassica* species are excellent models to study polyploidy in evolution (Nagaharu, 1935; Mizushima, 1950). Recently, the genomes of *B. rapa*, *B. oleracea* and *B. napus* have become available, giving insights into the conservation and evolution of the A and C genomes (Ayele *et al.*, 2005; Wang *et al.*, 2011; Chalhoub *et al.*, 2014; Liu *et al.*, 2014; Parkin *et al.*, 2014).

1.2 Sequencing and crop improvement

1.2.1 Advances in next generation sequencing

Sequencing and assembling plant genomes has been challenging, largely due to the large genome sizes accompanied by repetitive sequences, transposable elements and a higher frequency of polyploidy and heterozygosity (Claros *et al.*, 2012). In addition, plants tend to have multi-gene families with high number of paralogous genes (Lockton and Gaut, 2005). *A. thaliana*, completed by the Sanger sequencing method was the first plant genome to be sequenced and was a multi-year and costly endeavor (AGI, 2000). Thanks to advances in next-generation sequencing (NGS) technology as well as improvements in bioinformatic algorithms and *ab initio* gene structure prediction programs it is now possible to produce a draft genome sequence in just a few months with just a fraction of the costs (Weigel and Mott, 2009). The main advance in the NGS technology was the ability to remove additional time consuming steps, mainly the subcloning and clone amplification in bacterial hosts (Claros *et al.*, 2012).

NGS technology is commonly divided in second and third NGS, relying on similar methods with the usage of either a PCR step or not (reviewed in Knief, 2014). A single template is directly used to generate millions of bases and the protocol is much more straightforward than Sanger sequencing. Combining different NGS technologies as well as assembly technology was shown to be a very effective tool to produce high quality draft sequences (Aury *et al.*, 2008; Kumar and Blaxter, 2010) and was employed in the sequencing of *B. oleracea*, *B. napus*, *Capsella rubella* and *Schrenkiella parvulum* (Dassanayake *et al.*, 2011; Chalhoub *et al.*, 2014; Slotte *et al.*, 2013; Liu *et al.*, 2014; Parkin *et al.*, 2014). Additionally, technology for assembling genomes has advanced tremendously, needing substantial expertise and effort and it has become clear that no single technique can be used for all sequencing projects (Schatz *et al.*, 2012). While NGS technology has major advantages, shortcomings still remain (reviewed in Claros *et al.*, 2012). One of the shortcomings is the high inaccurate base calling and short sequence lengths generated. The latter is

becoming less of a problem with longer reads being obtained reaching up to 5000bp.

To date only *A. thaliana* is considered 'finished' if you ignore the lack of sequence data in the highly repetitive regions, which still remain cumbersome for sequencing and assembly (Hamilton and Buell, 2012). Major focus is put in the production of draft sequences and less into producing 'complete' genomes. The reduced efforts could hinder functional genomics in the future and subsequently the improvements to crop quality (Feuillet *et al.*, 2011; Claros *et al.*, 2012). Therefore aiming for a high quality sequence would be highly beneficial for crop improvement.

1.2.2 Crop improvements

Understanding the gene regulatory networks that are shared between plant species is instrumental in improving cultivated crop species as well as aiding in understanding of crop evolution (reviewed in Dhanapal and Govindaraj, 2015). A major challenge in producing a crop that is resistant against all possible stresses is the constantly changing environment influencing the regulation of multiple genes including genes with very small effect and epigenetics. A further understanding of the interactions between abiotic and biotic stress as well as with the biochemical pathways in the plant is needed to continue producing crops that can be grown in large scale without major losses (Fleury et al., 2010). The available sequence data from A. thaliana unraveled the basic mechanisms in plant development and has provided knowledge into tolerance to abiotic and biotic stress situations. The information from A. thaliana was for example used to improve the tolerance to freezing, salt and drought tolerance in tomato, rapeseed, strawberry, rice and wheat (Zhang et al., 2004). In disease resistance however, the situation is much more complex with multiple genes playing minor roles, but together form the strongest response (Poland et al., 2008). Identifying each individual factor involved in resistance response remains challenging (Raghuvanshi et al., 2010). Currently the introduction of both OTLs associated with disease resistance and major resistance (R) genes into crop varieties is the best way to achieve effective and durable resistance (Boyd et al., 2013). The increasing availability of genomic sequence data has resulted in the increase of available markers and the identification of regions within the genomes important in defense responses.

Other major problems reside in the decline of genetic diversity within crops through domestication of plant species leading to a collection of highly genetically similar cultivars (reviewed in Gepts, 2014). For example in rice, only 10 to 20% of the genetic diversity was retained from wild rice in cultivated rice (Zhu *et al.*, 2007). The resulting crops are often less fit to adapt to a changing environment, making them more vulnerable to new diseases (Brown and Funk, 2008; Turner *et al.*, 2009). Improvements have to be made in the current selection of crop species to ensure protection against biotic and abiotic stresses. To this end the use of landraces, rare breeds and wild relatives with novel resistance traits are currently exploited. Traditional breeding

requires two species to be inter-fertile creating a major limitation in improving a crop. However, bridge-crosses could be used to overcome this. Unfortunately, crossing often introduces potential undesirable traits, which becomes greater with distantly related species or wild species. Additionally, the introduced resistance could make the plant more vulnerable to other pathogens or abiotic stress like drought (Huot *et al.*, 2014). Thus, crossing is not always as simple as it sounds, often resulting in several years of backcrossing and selection before the desired product is achieved (reviewed in Boyd *et al.*, 2013). In the case of potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) introduction of late blight resistance was achieved using the wild species *Solanum bulbocastanum*, which took more than 30 years (Haverkort *et al.*, 2009).

1.2.3 Pathogens that attack Brassica crops and their genomes

Sequencing efforts on pathogens infecting one or more of the *Brassicaceae* species has aided in a better understanding of plant-pathogen interaction. *L. maculans* causing stem cankers on several *Brassica* species results in major economic losses each year (Fitt *et al.*, 2006). The release of the *L. maculans* genome sequence aided in the identification of two avirulence genes *AvrLmJ1* and *AvrLm11*, the latter representing the first cloned *Avr* gene with a corresponding resistance gene, *RLM11* identified in *B. rapa* (Balesdent *et al.*, 2013; Van de Wouw *et al.*, 2014). And *RLM11* was introduced to susceptible oilseed rape genotypes with the aim to use in fields were >95% of the *L. maculans* population was shown to contain the *AvrLm11* gene. So far the improved oilseed has not been commercially released (Zander *et al.*, 2013), therefore the effectiveness of the resistance is unknown.

The research in *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* has been used as a genetic model to study plant-microbe interactions, with the hope of using it in other pathosystems within the *Brassicaceae* (Holub, 2008; Coates and Beynon, 2010). The sequenced genome of *H. arabidopsidis*, causing downy mildew in *A. thaliana*, contains 134 potential secreted proteins (Baxter *et al.*, 2010). These potential proteins were subsequently used in different functional experiments, revealing their localization *in planta*, interaction with plant proteins and induction of plant defenses as well as being able to enhance susceptibility in the plant (Baxter *et al.*, 2010; Fabro *et al.*, 2011; Mukhtar *et al.*, 2011; Caillaud *et al.*, 2012a; 2012b; 2013; Wirthmueller *et al.*, 2015).

Additionally, the availability of the genomes of other pathogens revealed insight in their infection strategies, like the *AMR1* transcription factor in *Alternaria brassicicola* (Cho *et al.*, 2012), the *VELVET* gene and chitin synthase genes in *Botrytis cinerea* (Morcx *et al.*, 2013; Schumacher *et al.*, 2012) to name a few. Additionally the obligate biotrophic clubroot pathogen *Plasmodiophora brassicae* impacting numerous species within the *Brassicaceae* family was recently released (Schwelm *et al.*, 2015), predicting effector candidates which likely will aid in a better understanding of this devastating protist and close relatives in the future.

1.2.4 Effectoromics and transcriptomics

Effector proteins are secreted by pathogens to aid in infection through suppressing immunity and altering plant processes and are generally not well conserved between species (Jones and Dangl, 2006). Functional genomic strategies employing effectors from pathogens probed against plant germplasms to detect R genes and other interacting proteins are an important part of modern breeding today (reviewed in Vleeshouwers and Oliver, 2014). A great example of usage of such a strategy is in the breeding of resistant potato against *Phytophthora infestans*, a devastating pathogen for this crop (Vleeshouwers et al., 2008). Wild Solanum species were tested against effectors from the oomycete and genotypes displaying HR response were selected for crossing resulting in the resistant crop currently used in cultivation. Durable resistance is more attainable using 'core effectors' found in a wide range of the population rather than dispensable effectors that are easily lost (Dangl et al., 2013). It is now feasible to sequence different field isolates to determine effector content. For example, the highly conserved AvrBs2 effector identified in Xanthomonas species and its R protein Bs2 in pepper was successfully employed to induce resistance in tomato against Xanthomonas perforans (Tai et al., 1999). However, resistance of this particular gene was overcome in pepper, due to point mutations in the AvrBs2 gene (Stall et al., 2009; Dangl *et al.*, 2013) highlighting the advantage of stacking multiple Rgenes rather than focusing on just one. However there is the possibility of silencing with the use of gene stacking as was observed for the powdery mildew resistant in wheat lines (Stirnweis et al., 2014). A better knowledge of effector function within plant defense will aid in the overall understanding of plant disease and will aid in producing crops with increased durable disease resistance.

Studying plant-pathogen interaction at the transcriptional level gives insight into the transcriptional changes caused by a pathogen. RNA sequencing has greatly enhanced transcriptomic analysis and also functions as a screening method to find new players in response to a pathogen (reviewed in Wolf, 2013). To this end different pathogen strains with different effector repertoires and plant genotypes with differences in disease phenotype (resistant, susceptible or moderate) are used. Additionally, sequencing of non-coding RNAs and small RNAs provides information on possible induced silencing by a pathogen. In tomato RNA isolated from resistant and a susceptible breeding lines against the tomato yellow leaf curl virus had the additional advantage that novel genes were recovered not present in the reference genome sequence (Chen *et al.*, 2013). RNA sequencing therefore provides an additional tool to find interesting genes for crop improvement when only a partly sequenced genome is available.

1.3 Defense responses

1.3.1 Resistance genes and their evolution

Plants have evolved several defense responses including the action of resistant genes or R genes. These genes are involved in protection against a spectrum of pathogens, such as bacteria, viruses, fungi, nematodes, insects and even parasitic plants (Dangl and Jones, 2001; Gururani et al., 2012; Michelmore et al., 2013). R genes also have been shown to be involved in response to cold and drought stress (Chini et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2010). The largest class of R genes encode proteins with a 'nucleotide-binding site and leucine-rich repeat' domains (NB-LRR, NL) (Dangl and Jones, 2001; Hulbert et al., 2001). The NB domain is involved in binding to ATP or GTP and includes highly conserved motifs, such as the P-loop, kinase-2 and Gly-Leu-Pro-Leu motifs (Tan and Wu, 2012). The LRRs, found in a diversity of proteins is involved in the interaction with proteins, ligands and carbohydrates and are under diversifying selection (Jones and Dangl, 2006). The LRRs are divided in eight specific classes, depending on sequence length and similarity within the variable segment and LRRs are suggested to have evolved several times within a variety of different species (Kajava, 1998; Miyashita et al., 2013).



Figure 2. Schematic representation of the domains found in the two subclasses of R proteins. The upper drawing depicts the subclass consisting of a Toll and mammalian interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) flanking the 'nucleotide-binding site and leucine-rich repeat' (NB-LRR), while the lower drawing shows the subclass replacing the TIR with a coiled-coil (CC) domain.

The NB domain and LRRs have a very ancient origin since several genes in the eubacteria species (e.g. Streptomyces coelicolor, Nostoc punctiforme) are identified encoding either a NB domain or LRRs (Yue et al., 2012; Jacob et al., 2013). The fusion between NB and LRR is not observed until the moss Physcomitrella patens. The NLs are further subdivided into two subclasses, based on the N-terminal structural features. The first subclass contains an Nterminus referred to as the Drosophila Toll and mammalian interleukin-1 receptors or TIR (TNL), while the second subclass contains a coiled-coil (CC) domain (CNL, Figure 2). The subclasses can induce different signaling pathways within the cells to aid in disease resistance (Aarts et al., 1998). It is predicted that the combination of the TIR domain with the NL has evolved earlier than its CNL counterpart (Yue *et al.*, 2012). The two gene families have expanded extensively within the different plant families not correlating with genome size. However in monocots, TNL genes seemed to have been lost completely while in dicots there is a preference for TNL genes (Tarr et al., 2009).

Most plant R genes are found to cluster together in plant genomes and are divided in two types depending on how the cluster is shaped. The first type contains R genes that have experienced tandem duplications, while ectopic duplication, transposition or large-scale segmental duplication and rearrangements are typical for the second type (Hulbert *et al.*, 2001; Leister, 2004). R genes are more diverse than can be expected from random genetic drift suggesting major selective pressures working on this gene family (Marone *et al.*, 2013). Indentification of R gene clusters in plant genomes can be usefull to find new functional R genes and was employed in a study with the rice blast pathogen *Magnaporthe oryzae* (Yang *et al.*, 2013c). In this study three rapidly evolving R-gene families shaped by recent duplications were identified in maize, sorghum and Brachypodium. Several of the fast evolving genes were found to induce resistance towards M. *oryzae* when introduced into rice.

Genes encoding only the TIR domain or TIR and NB domain are identified in every node of the plant kingdom and there is growing evidence that these genes also play important roles in plant defense response (Nandety *et al.*, 2013). Several *A. thaliana* TN genes confer resistance towards *Pseudomonas syringae* and *Fusarium oxysporum* and show high conservation between distantly related species. In yeast-two-hybrid studies several were found to interact with effector proteins from a wide variety of pathogens, suggesting that this class of genes is directly involved in recognizing a pathogen. Additionally, the TN proteins were suggested to work as adapter proteins interacting with TNL proteins functioning as downstream signaling components in defense response (Meyers *et al.*, 2002).

1.3.2 Salicylic acid and other phytohormones

Phytohormones play essential roles within plant development, reproduction, growth and are associated with the response towards many different types of stresses. The regulation of phytohormones has to be tightly regulated resulting in a complex signaling network that uses both antagonistic as well as synergistic crosstalk within the different hormone pathways (Robert-Seilaniantz *et al.*, 2011; Kazan and Lyons, 2014). Within plants, three hormones, salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA) and ethylene (ET) are the most predominate players regarding defense signaling. Even though exceptions exist, SA has been mostly described in defense against biotrophic pathogens (feeding on living tissues); while the JA and ET have been associated with pathogens with a necrotrophic lifestyle (feeding on dead tissues).

After a pathogen encounter, SA levels often increase rapidly leading to the expression of *PATHOGENESIS-RELATED* (*PR*) genes (Klessig and Malamy, 1994; Pieterse and Loon, 1999; Shah, 2003). NONEXPRESSER OF PR GENES 1 (NPR1) plays a vital part within SA defense response and is known to interact with several members of the TGACG motif binding (TGA) family of basic leucine zipper transcription factors to activate expression of the *PR* genes (Jakoby *et al.*, 2002). Several effectors from pathogens are able to bypass SA-triggered defense responses in the plant and induced disease

(Djamei *et al.*, 2011; Asai *et al.*, 2014). Controversies still exist on how exactly NPR1 functions within SA response and more in-depth studies on this topic is on-going (Boatwright and Pajerowska-Mukhtar, 2013). While *A. thaliana* has been the model species for investigating hormone defense responses, alternative model species, like rice have revealed complex differences (De Vleesschauwer *et al.*, 2013; Yang *et al.*, 2013a). In rice, the SA biosynthesis is not well understood and does not seem to be influenced by pathogen attack (Silverman *et al.*, 1995). Orthologs within the SA pathway from *A. thaliana* have different functions in rice (De Vleesschauwer *et al.*, 2014). In case of the rice NPR1 homolog, it functions as an energy switch limiting resources for growth to handle a pathogen attack.

Between SA and JA the antagonistic effects have been described extensively and found conserved among 17 plant species from various taxonomic groups (Robert-Seilaniantz *et al.*, 2011; Thaler *et al.*, 2012). Increasing evidence is accumulating revealing the existence of synergistic effects relating to possible threshold levels of the two hormones (Spoel and Dong, 2008). ET generally has been described to work in concert mainly with JA, but ET is also described to positively interact with the SA pathway (van der Ent and Pieterse, 2012; Derksen *et al.*, 2013). Other hormones, like abscisic acid, gibberellins, auxins, cytokinins and brassinosteroids are increasingly shown to positively or negatively affect the defense pathways (Bari and Jones, 2009; Cao *et al.*, 2011; Naseem *et al.*, 2015).

2 Aims of the study

The emphasis of the work was to increase our understanding within the different levels of plant defense at a functional and evolutionary level. With this in mind the specific aims were:

- Gain deeper knowledge in R gene conservation and expansion within the Brassicaceae family
- ➢ Functionally characterize the *RLM3*, *LMS1* and *LMS5* genes and their different roles in plant defense.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 *R* gene repertoires

3.1.1 A core set of 29 R genes in nineteen A. thaliana accessions (I)

The *R* gene repertoires identified in plant genomes represent one of the largest gene families (Jacob *et al.*, 2013). The R gene expansions have been shaped through the host and pathogen co-evolution resulting in unique R gene sets in each species (Michelmore et al., 2013). The expansion seems to be unrelated to phylogeny or genome size and evolves rapidly through duplication. In the A. thaliana reference genome Col-0, 81 genes encoding TIR-NB-LRRs (TNLs) and 51 CC-NB-LRRs (CNLs) are present (Meyers et al., 2002; Meyers et al., 2003) with 24 genes associated with specific plant defense responses known to date. The expanding knowledge of natural variation within A. thaliana, like the accessions sequenced by Gan et al. (2011) gave the opportunity to investigate the conservation and expansion of the R gene repertoires in this model species. In a subset of the R genes described by Meyers et al. (2002; 2003) a wide distribution of R gene-repertoires was identified, discovering a core set of 29 conserved TNL and CNL encoding genes. Since none of the known genes in the conserved core set directly interact with a pathogen protein, the core set might be part of downstream signaling rather than directly recognizing a pathogen. The 51 R genes that were not conserved were either absent or encoding proteins lacking one or two domains. Evolving R genes are important in creating new R gene pools for resistance to keep up with fast evolving pathogen virulence proteins also referred to as effectors (Yang et al., 2013c).

3.1.2 Five R genes are conserved in five Brassicaceae species (I)

The availability of sequence information from a growing number of species related to A. *thaliana*, including A. *lyrata*, C. *rubella*, B. *rapa* and E. *salsugineum* gave us the opportunity to study R gene conservation and expansion within one family and two lineages. In these five species we found a

great variation of the predicted R genes, ranging from 67 in E. salsugineum to 135 in *B. rapa*. Between species a greater conservation of the TNL subclass in comparison to the CNL subclass was observed and a core set of three CNLs and three TNLs were identified with orthologs in all five species. HOPZ-ACTIVATED RESISTANCE 1 (ZAR1) and possibly RESISTANT TO P. SYRINGAE 2 (RPS2), both important in defense against P. syringae were the only genes with known function in this core set. ZAR1 interacts with HOPZ-ETI-DEFICIENT1 (ZED1), the latter a non-functional kinase interacting with the P. syringae effector HopZ1a (Lewis et al., 2013). ZAR1 homologs were also identified in Vitis vinifera and Solanum species that belong to other families mainly within the Rosid clade. The conservation of the *R* genes with no known function in the core set could hint to a possible important function either in plant defense or other pathways. The expected higher numbers of conservation within lineages was not observed, emphasizing the different selection forces shaping the diversity of R gene family repertoires in each individual species rather than at the lineage level.

3.1.3 The RLM1 locus is partly conserved

Several genes have a role in *L. maculans* resistance in *A. thaliana*. The *RLM1* locus consists of seven *R* genes (*RLM1A* to *RLM1G*) (Staal *et al.*, 2006). The major *RLM1A* gene in the resistance response was conserved in 20 different *A. thaliana* accessions (**I**), including An-1 (**II**). Additionally, a potential homolog was identified in *C. rubella* as well as in the *B. napus* cv. Surpass 400 (**I**). In *B. napus* cv. Surpass 400 used to control blackleg disease, the resistance towards *L. maculans* was overcome in 2004 (Larkan, *et al.*, 2013) Whether the *RLM1* homolog had any influence on resistance in *B. napus* cv. Surpass 400is unknown. Within the different accessions and in *A. lyrata*, *C. rubella*, *B. rapa* and *E. salsugineum* diversification in the *RLM1B* to *RLM1D* was observed. The *RLM1E* to *RLM1G* genes were well conserved between the 19 accessions and orthologs of *RLM1F* and *RLM1G*. In the case of *RLM1F*, it might be part of defense responses specifically in flowers where it is primarily expressed in *A. thaliana* (Tan *et al.*, 2007).

3.1.4 RLM3 interacts with the BRX protein

Plant genomes contain multiple genes encoding for R proteins lacking one or more domains or have included additional domains. During the evolution several domain fusions have occurred. For example fusions between a α/β hydrolase and a NL domain in the liverwort *Marchantia polymorpha* a species that diverged from land plants 480 mya and a fusion between a protein kinase with a NL in *P. patens* diverging from land plants 450 mya (Xue *et al.*, 2012). In *A. thaliana* the *RESISTANT TO RALSTONIA SOLANACEARUM 1* or *RRS1* gene encodes a TNL and a C-terminal WRKY domain. The WRKY domain is able to directly interact with effector proteins (Sarris *et al.*, 2015). In the case of RLM3, instead of the LRR domains flanking the TN it has three BREVIS RADIX (BRX) domains mainly known for its presence in a root elongation protein (Mouchel *et al.*, 2004). RLM3 is an important player in defense towards a variety of pathogens, including *B. cinerea* and *Alternaria* species (Staal *et al.*, 2008). It is therefore surprising that *RLM3* is completely deleted in six out of 19 analyzed *A. thaliana* genomes (**I**). The deletion is likely the result of a single event, revealing only minor differences in the *rlm3* accessions at this locus. Homologs also exist in *A. lyrata* and *C. sativa* (**I**+**II**), the latter containing three copies as a result of whole genome triplication (Kagale *et al.*, 2014a). One of the homologs in *C. sativa* is likely a pseudogene, due to the presence of several stop codons and the presence of a transposase domain. The history of the evolution of *RLM3* remains unclear since no homologous gene or gene fragments were identified with high similarity with the NB and BRX domain of RLM3 (**I**). However with the growing sequence and annotation information available this could very well be solved in the near future.

While there is no involvement of RLM3 in root growth, a resistant phenotype is achieved when using only the C-terminal region of the RLM3 protein containing solely the three BRX domains (II). Additionally, in the plasma membrane RLM3 interacts with the BRX protein, the latter consisting of two BRX domains. The BRX protein functions as a transcription factor and probably controls numerous of genes (Scacchi *et al.*, 2009). Nuclear interaction between RLM3 and BRX still needs to be resolved. The possibility of the RLM3-BRX interaction in the nucleus provides an interesting mechanism for RLM3 to regulate the expression of genes in response to a pathogen signal.

3.2 LMS1 and its role in defense (III)

3.2.1 LMS1 and necrotrophic filamentous pathogens

Identifying components important in defense responses in plants is an ongoing process and more and more information is gathered through the study of different pathogen systems. The usage of mutants displaying an altered phenotype when challenged by different pathogens has aided greatly in identifying genes needed for defense response. In the EMS *lms1* mutant disease symptoms were observed when challenged with *L. maculans* (Bohman *et al.*, 2004) and to the additional pathogens; *A. brassicicola*, *B. cinerea*, *Bipolaris sorokiniana* and *P. infestans*. Bacteria and biotrophic pathogens on the other hand could not infect *lms1*, indicating that the mutation affected only the response towards filamentous pathogens with a (partly) necrotrophic lifestyle. The *LMS1* gene responsible for the diseased phenotype was subsequently identified to encode a protein with similarity to lipid phosphate phosphatases, but no phosphate phosphatase activity was observed for LMS1.

3.2.2 LMS1 interacts with a SA-binding protein

Several pathogens have evolved clever ways to directly inhibit or alter host responses in favor of the pathogen including manipulations of phytohormones.

In the *lms1* mutant the levels of SA were elevated 5.6-fold after pathogen challenge compared to the wild type. Induction of several SA associated genes; SALICYLIC ACID INDUCTION DEFECIENT 2 (SID2), PHYTOALEXIN DEFICIENT 4 (PAD4) and PR-1 were subsequently found. Crosses between lms1 and sid2 or pad4 revealed a resistant response, further highlighting their importance in the *lms1* susceptible phenotype. Increase in SA levels has been associated with successful colonization of necrotrophs. The increase in SA levels in *lms1* would subsequently lead to the observed susceptible phenotype when challenged with pathogens with a necrotrophic lifestyle. Whether any of the pathogens directly influence the SA levels in the lms1 mutant remain unknown. A component important in the defect in SA response in *lms1* was identified as a carbonic anhydrase or SA binding protein 3 (SABP3) described to play important roles in SA perception and signaling (Du and Klessig 1997). SABP3 interacts with LMS1 at the plasma membrane, where LMS1 is primarily located, while the truncated LMS1 found in *lms1* could not interact. From our data it was additionally shown that SABP3 is relocated upon pathogen attack from its primary chloroplast location to the plasma membrane.

3.2.3 Insights into antagonistic effects between SA and JA

Increase in JA levels has been associated with defense responses towards necrotrophic pathogens and the repression of JA through SA has been observed numerous times (Spoel *et al.*, 2003; 2007; Flors *et al.*, 2008). Unexpectedly, the levels of the active component jasmonoyl-L-isoleucine (JA-Ile) was found constitutively high in the *lms1* mutant compared to the wild type, suggesting that a resistant response instead of a diseased phenotype should have been observed when challenged with the necrotrophic pathogens. The introduction of the *coi1* mutant defective in JA-signaling in the *lms1* mutant did not affect the susceptible response indicating that JA has no role in the observed susceptibility in the *lms1* mutant. From our data it can be suggested that LMS1 has an inhibitory effect on JA levels, either its biosynthesis or its break down. This inhibitory affect is repressed after a successful interaction with SABP3, resulting in increase in JA responses and decrease in SA-responses.

3.3 A prolyl oligopeptidase is involved in defense against *L.* maculans (IV)

Pathogens like *L. maculans* with a necrotrophic lifestyle use phytotoxins, cell wall degrading enzymes and other enzymes to cause cell death in the plant (Howlett *et al.*, 2001; Laluk and Mengiste 2010; Pedras and Yu 2009). Furthermore, low-molecular weight phytotoxic metabolites, which can be

either host-specific or have similar effects on a variety of plant species are also produced as well as necrosis-inducing phytotoxins (van Kan, 2006). To overcome the effects of these molecules a plant has developed several lines of defense responses. One of the candidate genes selected to study in its response against the L. maculans fungus and its toxins is the gene encoding a putative PROLYL OLIGOPEPTIDASE (POP) gene predicted to be involved specifically in the cleavage of peptide substrates smaller than 30 amino acids in length (Polgár, 1994). This particular gene could play an important function in hydrolyzing these smaller molecules as a defense response. The POP gene, which we named POP1 was found to be mutated at the R36H position in the L. maculans susceptible lms5 mutant. Two individual T-DNA insertion mutants; pop1-1 and pop1-2 with down-regulation and almost complete absence of POP1 expression have a similar weak disease response in comparison to the lms5 mutant when challenged with L. maculans. Higher fungal quantification revealed successful colonization. The results from these two mutants demonstrate the involvement of the POP1 gene in defense against L. maculans. Complementation of the *lms5* mutant with the Col-0 POP1 gene was attempted but no transformants were generated, even after repeating the dipping several times and screening thousands of seeds. Since the lms5 mutant is in the Ler-0 background, an accession with low transformation efficiency (Desfeux et al., 2000), this was not completely unexpected. In a pull down assay with POP1-HA overexpressing plants several weak bands were identified, one of these bands was glycolate oxidase 1 (GOX1) interacting with the POP1 protein. GOX proteins are known to take part of the production of hydrogen peroxide during both gene-for-gene and non-host resistance responses (Rojas et al., 2012). So far, direct interaction with a fungal protein effector with POP1 was not observed and further studies are ongoing.

4 Conclusions

- The R gene repertoire between several A. thaliana accessions, A. lyrata, C. rubella, B. rapa and E. salsugineum has a large variation.
- ➤ The *RLM1* locus with seven genes has undergone conservation and diversification within 19 accessions and five species.
- The *RLM3* gene is conserved within *Arabidopsis* and *Camelina* but absent in seven *A. thaliana* accessions.
- The C-terminal region of RLM3 containing three BRX domains is involved in plant defense response independent from the TIR and NB domain.
- LMS1 is important in defense against filamentous plant pathogens with a necrotrophic stage in their lifecycles.
- LMS1 interacts with SABP3 at the plasma membrane upon pathogen contact and is involved in the regulation of SA and JA defense signaling.
- > POP1 interacts with GOX1 possibly to protect against *L. maculans* infection.

5 Future perspectives

A list of analyses to improve the manuscripts in the thesis and to gain more knowledge on *RLM3*, *LMS1* and *POP1* in defense responses.

- Investigating difference between the S-nitrosylation status (active vs. inactive protein) of SABP3 and the interaction with LMS1
- Test for a role of JA levels using a JA biosynthesis mutant (*dde2* mutant) in LMS1 defense
- Determining the interaction between RLM3 and BRX-like proteins
- Crossing *rlm3* mutants and *brx* and *brx-like* mutants and investigating defense response.
- Immunoprecipitation experiments with RLM3 to identify novel interacting proteins.
- Test the 35S_{pro}:RLM3₁₃₃₃-HA overexpressing lines to other pathogens, e.g. B. cinerea, L. maculans.
- > Test auxin and brassinosteroid involvement in the RLM3-BRX interaction.
- Silencing the *POP1* gene to link the mutation in *lms1* with the POP1 gene.
- Determining interaction between the POP proteins and fungal proteins from L. maculans, extending with the available sequence information from L. maculans
- ▶ BIFC analysis between POP1 and GOX1 to confirm interaction
- Complementation of *pop1-1* and *pop1-2* mutants with POP1::POP1 to determine resistance towards *L. maculans*
- Measure GOX activity in *pop1-1gox1-1* mutant.

References

- Aarts, N., Metz, M., Holub, E., Staskawicz, B.J., Daniels, M.J., Parker, J.E. (1998) Different requirements for *EDS1* and *NDR1* by disease resistance genes define at least two *R* gene-mediated signaling pathways in *Arabidopsis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **95**, 10306-10311.
- Akama, S., Shimizu-Inatsugi, R., Shimizu, K.K., Sese, J. (2014) Genome-wide quantification of homeolog expression ratio revealed nonstochastic gene regulation in synthetic allopolyploid *Arabidopsis*. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **42**, e46.
- Alonso-Blanco, C., Koornneef, M. (2000) Naturally occurring variation in *Arabidopsis*: an underexploited resource for plant genetics. *Trends Plant Sci.* **5**, 22-29.
- **Al-Shehbaz, I.A.** (2012) A generic and tribal synopsis of the Brassicaceae (Cruciferae). *Taxon.* **61**, 931-954.
- Amtmann, A. (2009) Learning from evolution: *Thellungiella* generates new knowledge on essential and critical components of abiotic stress tolerance in plants. *Mol. Plant*, 2, 3-12.
- **APA**: First solely-biofuel jet flight raises clean travel hopes (2012), November 8) retrieved 14 October 2014 from http://phys.org/news/2012-11-solely-biofuel-jet-flight.html.
- Araus, J.L., Cairns, J.E. (2013) Field high-throughput phenotyping: the new crop breeding frontier. *Trends Plant Sci.* **19**, 52-61.
- Asai, S., Rallapalli, G., Piquerez, S.J., Caillaud, M.C., Furzer, O.J., Ishaque, N., Wirthmueller, L., Fabro, G., Shirasu, K., Jones, J.D. (2014) Expression profiling during Arabidopsis/downy mildew interaction reveals a highly-expressed effector that attenuates responses to salicylic acid. *PLoS Pathog.* **10**, e1004443.
- Aury, J.M., Cruaud, C., Barbe, V., et al. (2008) High quality draft sequences for prokaryotic genomes using a mix of new sequencing technologies. BMC Genomics, 9, 603.
- Ayele, M., Haas, B.J., Kumar, N., Wu, H., Xiao, Y., Van Aken, S., Utterback, T.R., Wortman, J.R., White, O.R., Town, C.D. (2005) Whole genome shotgun sequencing of *Brassica oleracea* and its application to gene discovery and annotation in *Arabidopsis*. *Genome Res.* 15, 487-495.
- **Axtell, M.J., Staskawicz, B.J.** (2003) Initiation of *RPS2*-specified disease resistance in *Arabidopsis* is coupled to the AvrRpt2-directed elimination of RIN4. *Cell*, **112**, 369–377.
- Bari, R., Jones, J.D. (2009) Role of plant hormones in plant defence responses. *Plant Mol Biol.* 69, 473-488.
- Balesdent, M.H., Fudal, I., Ollivier, B., Bally, P., Grandaubert, J., Eber, F., Chèvre, A.M., Leflon, M., Rouxel, T. (2013) The dispensable chromosome of *Leptosphaeria* maculans shelters an effector gene conferring avirulence towards *Brassica rapa*. New Phytol. 198, 887-898.

- Baxter, L., Tripathy, S., Ishaque, N., *et al.* (2010) Signatures of adaptation to obligate biotrophy in the *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* genome. *Science.* **330**, 1549-1551.
- Beilstein, M.A., Al-Shehbaz, I.A., Kellogg, E.A. (2006) Brassicaceae phylogeny and trichome evolution. *Am. J. Bot.* **93**, 607-619.
- Boatwright, J.L. Pajerowska-Mukhtar, K. (2013) Salicylic acid: an old hormone up to new tricks. *Mol. Plant Pathol.* 14, 623-634.
- Boyd, L.A., Ridout, C., O'Sullivan, D.M., Leach, J.E., Leung, H. (2013) Plant-pathogen interactions: disease resistance in modern agriculture. *Trends Genet.* **29**, 233-240.
- Brachi, B., Villotreix, R., Faure, N., Hautekèete, N., Piquot, Y., Pauwels, M., Roby, D., Cuguen, J., Bergelson, J., Roux, F. (2013) Investigation of the geographical scale of adaptive phenological variation and its underlying genetics in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Mol. Ecol.* 22, 4222-4440.
- Brown, M.E, Funk, C.C. (2008) Climate. Food security under climate change. *Science*, **319**, 580-581.
- Busch, A., Horn, S., Mühlhausen, A., Mummenhoff, K., Zachgo, S. (2012) Corolla monosymmetry: evolution of a morphological novelty in the Brassicaceae family. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 29, 1241-1254.
- Caillaud, M.C., Wirthmueller, L., Fabro, G., Piquerez, S.J., Asai, S., Ishaque, N., Jones, J.D. (2012a) Mechanisms of nuclear suppression of host immunity by effectors from the *Arabidopsis* downy mildew pathogen *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* (Hpa). *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* 77, 285-293.
- Caillaud, M.C., Piquerez, S.J., Jones, J.D. (2012b) Characterization of the membraneassociated HaRxL17 *Hpa* effector candidate. *Plant Signal Behav.* 7, 145-149.
- Caillaud, M.C., Asai, S., Rallapalli, G., Piquerez, S., Fabro, G., Jones, J.D. (2013) A downy mildew effector attenuates salicylic acid-triggered immunity in Arabidopsis by interacting with the host mediator complex. *PLoS Biol.* **11**, e1001732.
- Cao, F.Y., Yoshioka, K., Desveaux, D. (2011) The roles of ABA in plant-pathogen interactions. J. Plant Res. 124, 489-499.
- Chalhoub, B., Denoeud, F., Liu, S. et al. (2014) Plant genetics. Early allopolyploid evolution in the post-Neolithic *Brassica napus* oilseed genome. *Science*, **345**, 950-953.
- Chen, T., Lv, Y., Zhao, T., Li, N., Yang, Y., Yu, W., He, T., Zhang, B., (2013) Comparative transcriptome profiling of a resistant vs. susceptible tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*) cultivar in response to infection by tomato yellow leaf curl virus. *PloS One.* 8, e80816.
- Chini, A., Grant, J.J., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., Loake, G.J. (2004) Drought tolerance established by enhanced expression of the *CC-NBS-LRR* gene, *ADR1*, requires salicylic acid, EDS1 and ABI1. *Plant J.* **38**, 810-822.
- Cho, Y., Srivastava, A., Ohm, R.A., Lawrence, C.B., Wang, K.H., Grigoriev, I.V., Marahatta, S.P. (2012) Transcription factor *Amr1* induces melanin biosynthesis and suppresses virulence in *Alternaria brassicicola*. *PLOS Pathog.* **8**, e1002974.
- Claros, M.G., Bautista, R., Guerrero-Fernández, D., Benzerki, H., Seoane, P., Fernández-Pozo, N. (2012) Why assembling plant genome sequences is so challenging. *Biology (Basal).* **1**, 439-459.
- **Coates, M.E., Beynon, J.L.** (2010) *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* as a pathogen model. *Phytopathol.* **48**, 329-345.
- Dangl, J.L, Jones J.D. (2001) Plant pathogens and integrated defence responses to infection. *Nature*, **411**, 826-833.
- Dangl, J.L., Horvath, D.M., Staskawicz, B.J. (2013) Pivoting the plant immune system from dissection to deployment. *Science*, **341**, 746-751.
- Dassanayake, M., Oh, D.H., Haas, J.S., et al. (2011) The genome of the extremophile crucifer *Thellungiella parvula*. Nat. Genet. 43, 913-918.
- Derksen, H., Rampitsch, C., and Daayf, F. (2013) Signaling cross-talk in plant disease resistance. *Plant Sci.* 207, 79–87.

- **Desfeux, C., Clough, S.J., Bent, A.F.** (2000) Female reproductive tissues are the primary target of *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation by the Arabidopsis floral-dip method. *Plant Physiol.* **123**, 895-904.
- De Vleesschauwer, D., Gheysen, G., Höfte, M. (2013) Hormone defense networking in rice: tales from a different world. *Trends Plant Sci.* 18, 555-565.
- De Vleesschauwer, D., Xu, J., Höfte, M. (2014) Making sense of hormone-mediated defense networking: from rice to *Arabidopsis. Front. Plant Sci.* 5, 611.
- **Dhanapal, A.P., Govindaraj, M.** (2015) Unlimited thirst for genome sequencing, data interpretation, and database usage in genomic era: the road towards fast-track crop plant improvement. *Genet. Res. Int.* 2015, 684321.
- Djamei, A., Schipper, K., Rabe, F. et al. (2011) Metabolic priming by a secreted fungal effector. *Nature*, **478**, 395-398.
- **Dorn, K.M., Fankhauser, J.D., Wyse, D.L., Marks, M.D.** (2015) A draft genome of field pennycress (*Thlaspi arvense*) provides tools for the domestication of a new winter biofuel crop. *DNA Res.* **22**, 121-131.
- **Du, H., Klessig, D.F.** (1997) Identification of a soluble, high-affinity salicylic acid-binding protein in tobacco. *Plant Physiol.* **113**, 1319-1327.
- Edger, P.P., Pires, J.C. (2009). Gene and genome duplications: the impact of dosagesensitivity on the fate of nuclear genes. *Chromosome Res.* **17**, 699-717
- Fabro, G., Steinbrenner, J., Coates, M., *et al.* (2011) Multiple candidate effectors from the oomycete pathogen *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* suppress host plant immunity. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1002348.
- Fitt, B.D.L., Brun, H., Barbetti, M.J., Rimmer S.R. (2006) Worldwide importance of phoma stem canker (*Leptosphaeria maculans* and *L. biglobosa*) on oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*). *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* **114**, 3-15.
- Fleury, D., Jefferies, S., Kuchel, H., Langridge, P. (2010) Genetic and genomic tools to improve drought tolerance in wheat. J. Exp. Bot. 61, 3211-3222.
- Franzke, A., Lysak, M.A., Al-Shehbaz, I.A., Koch, M.A., Mummenhoff, K. (2011) Cabbage family affairs: the evolutionary history of Brassicaceae. *Trends Plant Sci.* 16, 108-116.
- Feuillet, C., Leach, J.E., Rogers, J., Schnable, P.S., Eversole, K. (2011) Crop genome sequencing: lessons and rationales. *Trends Plant Sci.* 2, 77-88.
- Flors, V., Ton, J., van Doorn, R., Jakab, G., García-Agustín, P., Mauch-Mani, B. (2008) Interplay between JA, SA and ABA signalling during basal and induced resistance against *Pseudomonas syringae* and *Alternaria brassicicola*. *Plant J.* **54**, 81-92.
- Gan, X., Stegle, O., Behr, J., *et al.* (2011) Multiple reference genomes and transcriptomes for *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Nature*, **477**, 419-423.
- Gepts, P. (2014) The contribution of genetic and genomic approaches to plant domestication studies. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 18, 51-59.
- Gururani, M.A., Venkatesh, J., Upadhyaya, C.P. Nookaraju, A., Pandey, S.K., Park,
 S.W. (2012) Plant disease resistance genes: Current status and future directions. *Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol.* 78, 51-65.
- Hamilton, J.P., Buell, C.R. (2012) Advances in plant genome sequencing. *Plant J.* 70, 177-190.
- Haudry, A., Platts, A.E., Vello, E., *et al.* (2013) An atlas of over 90,000 conserved noncoding sequences provides insight into crucifer regulatory regions. *Nat. Genet.* **45**, 891-898.
- Haverkort, A.J., Struik, P.C., Visser, R.G., Jacobsen, E. (2009) Applied biotechnology to combat late blight in potato caused by *Phytophthora infestans*. *Potato Res.* **52**, 249-264.
- Holub, E.B. (2008) Natural history of *Arabidopsis thaliana* and oomycete symbioses. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* **122**, 91-109.
- Howlett, B.J., Idnurm, A., Pedras, M.S. (2001) *Leptosphaeria maculans*, the causal agent of blackleg disease of Brassicas. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* **33**, 1-14.

- Hu, T.T., Pattyn, P., Bakker, E.G., *et al.* (2011) The *Arabidopsis lyrata* genome sequence and the basis of rapid genome size change. *Nat. Genet.* **43**, 476-481.
- Hulbert, S.H., Webb, C.A., Smith, S.M., Sun, Q. (2001) Resistance gene complexes: evolution and utilization. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **39**, 285-312.
- Huot, B., Yao, J., Montgomery, B.L., He, S.Y. (2014) Growth-defense tradeoffs in plants: a balancing act to optimize fitness. *Mol. Plant.* **7**, 1267-1287.
- Jacob, F., Vernaldi, S., Maekawa, T. (2013) Evolution and conservation of plant NLR functions. *Front. Immunol.* 4, 297.
- Jakoby, M., Weisshaar, B., Dröge-Laser, W., Vicente-Carbajosa, J.V., Tiedemann, J., Kroj, T., Parcy, F. (2002) bZIP transcription factors in *Arabidopsis. Trends Plant Sci.* 3, 106-111.
- Jones, J.D., Dangl, J.L. (2006) The plant immune system. Nature, 444, 323-329.
- Kagale, S., Koh, C., Nixon, J., *et al.* (2014a) The emerging biofuel crop *Camelina sativa* retains a highly undifferentiated hexaploid genome structure. *Nat. Commun.* **5**, 3706.
- Kagale, S., Robinson, S.J, Nixon, J., *et al.* (2014b) Polypoid evolution of the Brassicaceae during the Cenozoic era. *Plant Cell*, **26**, 2777-2791.
- Kajava, A.V. (1998) Structural diversity of leucine-rich repeat proteins. J. Mol. Biol. 277, 519-527.
- Kallio, P., Pásztor, A., Akhtar, M.K., Jones, P.R. (2014) Renewable jet fuel. Curr. Opin. Biotech. 26, 50-55.
- Kazan, K., Lyons, R. (2014) Intervention of phytohormone pathways by pathogen effectors. *Plant Cell*, 26, 2285-2309.
- Klessig, D.F., Malamy, J. (1994). The salicylic acid signal in plants. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 26,1439-1458.
- Kitashiba, H., Li, F., Hirakawa, H., et al. (2014) Draft sequences of the radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) genome. DNA Res. 21, 481-490.
- Knief, C. (2014). Analysis of plant microbe interactions in the era of next generation sequencing technologies. *Front. Plant Sci.* 5, 216.
- Koenig, D., Weigel, D. (2015) Beyond the thale: comparative genomics and genetics of *Arabidopsis* relatives. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **16**, 285-298.
- Kumar, S., Blaxter, M.L. (2010) Comparing *de novo* assemblers for 454 transcriptome data. *BMC Genomics*, **11**, 571.
- Ladizinsky G. (1998) Plant evolution under domestication. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Press. 262 p.
- Laibach, F. (1943) Arabidopsis thaliana (L.) Heynh. als Objekt für genetische und entwicklungsphysiologische Untersuchungen. Bot. Arch. 44, 439-455.
- Laluk, K., Mengiste, T. (2010) Necrotrophic attacks on plants: wanton destruction or covert extortion? *Arabidopsis book*, **8**, e0136.
- Larkan, N.J., Lydiate, D.J., Parkin, I.A., Nelson, M.N., Epp, D.J., Cowling, W.A., Rimmer, S.R., Borhan, M.H. (2013) The *Brassica napus* blackleg resistance gene *LepR3* encodes a receptor-like protein triggered by the *Leptosphaeria maculans* effecter *AVRLM1*. New Phytol. **197**, 595-605.
- Leister, D. (2004). Tandem and segmental gene duplication and recombination in the evolution of plant disease resistance gene. *Trends Genet.* 20, 116–122.
- Lewis, J.D., Lee, A.H., Hassan, J.A., *et al.* (2013) The *Arabidopsis* ZED1 pseudokinase is required for ZAR1-mediated immunity induced by the *Pseudomonas syringae* type III effector HopZ1a. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **110**, 18722-18727.
- Li, X., Mupondwa, E. (2014) Life cycle assessment of camelina oil derived biodiesel and jet fuel in the Canadian Prairies. *Sci. Total Environ.* **15**, 17-26.
- Liu, S., Liu, Y., Yang, X., (2014) The *Brassica oleracea* genome reveals the asymmetrical evolution of polyploid genomes. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 3930.

- Lobréaux, S., Manel, S., Melodelima, C. (2014) Development of an *Arabis alpina* genomic contig sequence data set and application to single nucleotide polymorphisms discovery. *Mol. Ecol. Resour.* 14, 411-418.
- Lockton, S., Gaut, B.S. (2005) Plant conserved non-coding sequences and paralogue evolution. *Trends Genet.* 21, 60-65.
- Long, Q., Rabanal, F.A., Meng, D. et al. (2013) Massive genomic variation and strong selection in Arabidopsis thaliana lines from Sweden. Nat. Genet. 45, 884-890.
- Lysak, M.A., Koch, M.A., Beaulieu, J.M., Meister, A., Leitch, I.J. (2009) The dynamic ups and downs of genome size evolution in *Brassicaceae*. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* **26**, 85-98.
- Mackey, D., Holt, B.F. III, Wiig, A., Dangl, J.L. (2002) RIN4 interacts with *Pseudomonas syringae* Type III effector molecules and is required for RPM1-mediated disease resistance in *Arabidopsis. Cell*, **108**, 743-754.
- Mackey, D., Belkhadir, Y., Alonso, J.M., Ecker, J.R. Dangl, J.L. (2003) *Arabidopsis* RIN4 is a target of the Type III virulence effector AvrRpt2 and modulates RPS2-mediated resistance. *Cell*, 112, 379-389.
- Marone, D., Russo, M.A., Laidò, G., De Leonardis, A.M., Mastrangelo, A.M. (2013) Plant nucleotide binding site-leucine-rich repeat (NBS-LRR) genes: active guardians in host defense responses. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **14**, 7302-7326.
- Meyers, B.C., Morgante, M., Michelmore, R.W. (2002) TIR-X and TIR-NBS proteins: two new families related to disease resistance TIR-NBS-LRR proteins encoded in *Arabidopsis* and other plant genomes. *Plant J.* **32**, 77-92.
- Meyers, B.C., Kozik, A., Griego, A., Kuang, H., Michelmore, R.W. (2003) Genome-wide analysis of NBS-LRR-encoding genes in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell.* **15**, 809-834.
- Michelmore, R.W., Christopoulou, M., Caldwell, K.S. (2013) Impacts of resistance gene genetics, function, and evolution on a durable future. *Annu Rev. Phytopathol.* 51, 291-319.
- Miyashita, H., Kuroki, Y., Kretsinger, R.H., Matsushima, N. (2013) Horizontal gene transfer of plant-specific leucine-rich repeats between plants and bacteria. *Nature*, **5**, 580-598.
- Mizushima, U. (1950) Karyogenetic studies of species and genus hybrids in the tribe *Brassiceae* of *Cruciferae*. *Tohoku J. Agr. Res.* 1, 1-14.
- Moghe, G.D., Hufnagel, D.E., Tang, H., Xiao, Y., Dworkin, I., Town, C.D., Conner, J.K., Shiu, S.H. (2014) Consequences of whole-genome triplication as revealed by comparative genomic analyses of the wild radish *Raphanus raphanistrum* and three other *Brassicaceae* species. *Plant Cell*, 26, 1925-1937.
- **Morcx, S., Kunz, C., Choquer, M.** *et al.* (2013) Disruption of *Bcchs4, Bcchs6* or *Bcchs7* chitin synthase genes in *Botrytis cinerea* and the essential role of class VI chitin synthase (*Bcchs6*). *Fungal Genet. Biol.* **52**, 1-8.
- Mouchel, C.F., Briggs, G.C., Hardtke, C.S. (2004) Natural genetic variation in *Arabidopsis* identifies *BREVIS RADIX*, a novel regulator of cell proliferation and elongation in the root. *Genes Dev.* **18**, 700-714.
- Mukhtar, M.S., Carvunis, A.R., Dreze, M., et al. (2011) Independently evolved virulence effectors converge onto hubs in a plant immune system network. *Science*. **333**, 596-601.
- Nandety, R.S., Caplan, J.L., Cavanaugh, K., Perroud, B., Wroblewski, T., Michelmore, R.W, Meyers, B.C. (2013) The role of TIR-NBS and TIR-X proteins in plant basal defense responses. *Plant Physiol.* 162, 1459-1472.
- **Naseem, M., Kaltdorf, M., Dandekar, T.** (2015) The nexus between growth and defence signalling: auxin and cytokinin modulate plant immune response pathways. *J Exp. Bot.* pii: erv297.
- Oerke, E.C. (2005) Crop losses to pests. J. Agr. Sci. 144, 31-43.
- Parkin, I.A., Koh, C., Tang, H., et al. (2014) Transcriptome and methylome profiling reveals relics of genome dominance in the mesopolyploid *Brassica oleracea*. Genome Biol. 15, R77.

- Pedras, M.S., Yu, Y. (2009) Phytotoxins, elicitors and other secondary metabolites from phytopathogenic "blackleg" fungi: structure, phytotoxicity and biosynthesis. *Nat. Prod. Commun.* 4, 1291-1304.
- Pieterse, C.M., van Loon, L.C. (1999) Salicylic acid-independent plant defense pathways. *Trends Plant Sci.* **4**, 52-58.
- Poland, J.A., Balint-Kurti, P.J., Wisser, R.J. Pratt, R.C. Nelson, R.J. (2008) Shades of gray: the world of quantitative disease resistance. *Trends Plants Sci.* 14, 21-29.
- Polgár, L. (1994) Prolyl oligopeptidases. Methods Enzymol. 244, 188-200.
- Pollard, A.J., Reeves, R.D., Baker, A.J. (2014) Facultative hyperaccumulation of heavy metals and metalloids. *Plant Sci.* 217-218, 8-17.
- Prakash, S., Hinata, K. 1980. Taxonomy, cytogenetics and origin of crop Brassicas, a review. *Opera Bot.* 55, 1-57.
- Raghuvanshi, S., Kapoor, M., Tyagi, S., Khurana, P., Khurana, J, Akhilesh, T. (2010) Rice genomics moves ahead. *Mol. Breed.* 26, 257-273.
- Robert-Seilaniantz, A., Grant, M. Jones, J.D. (2011) Hormone crosstalk in plant disease and defense: more than just jasmonate-salicylate antagonism. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **49**, 317-343.
- Rojas, C.M., Senthil-Kumar, M., Wang, K., Ryu, C.M., Kaundal, A., Mysore, K.S. (2012) Glycolate oxidase modulates reactive oxygen species-mediated signal transduction during nonhost resistance in *Nicotiana benthamiana* and *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell*, 24, 336-352.
- Rushworth, C.A., Song, B.H., Lee, C.R., Mitchell-Olds, T. (2011) *Boechera*, a model system for ecological genomics. *Mol. Ecol.* 20, 4843-4857.
- Sarris, P.F., Duxbury, Z., Huh, S.U. et al. (2015) A plant immune receptor detects pathogen effectors that target WRKY transcription factors. Cell, 161, 1089-1100.
- Savary, S., Ficke, A., Aubertot, J.N., Hollier, C. (2012) Crop losses due to diseases and their implications for global food production losses and food security. *Food Sec.* 4, 519-537.
- Scacchi, E., Osmont, K.S., Beuchat, J., Salinas, P., Navarrete-Gómez, M., Trigueros, M., Ferrándiz, C., Hardtke, C.S. (2009) Dynamic, auxin-responsive plasma membrane to nucleus movement of *Arabidopsis* BRX. *Develop.* 136, 2059-2067.
- Schatz, M.C., Witkowski, J., McCombie, W.R. (2012) Current challenges in *de novo* plant genome sequencing and assembly. *Genome Biol.* **13**, 243.
- Schnable, J.C., Wang, X., Pires, J.C., Freeling, M. (2012) Escape from preferential retention following repeated whole genome duplications in plants. *Front. Plant Sci.* 3, 94.
- Schranz, M.E., Lysak, M.A., Mitchell-Olds, T. (2006) The ABC's of comparative genomics in the Brassicaceae: building blocks of crucifer genomes. *Trends Plant Sci.* **11**, 535-542.
- Schumacher, J., Pradier, J.M., Simon, A., Traeger, S., Moraga, J., Collado, I.G., Viaud, M., Tudzynski, B. (2012) Natural variation in the VELVET gene bcvel1 affects virulence and light-dependent differentiation in *Botrytis cinerea*. PLOS One, 7, e47840.
- Schwelm, A., Fogelqvist, J., Knaust, A. *et al.* (2015) The *Plasmodiophora brassicae* genome reveals insights in its life cycle and ancestry of chitin synthases. *Sci. Rep.* **5**, 11153.
- Sedbrook, J.C., Phippen, W.B., Marks, M.D. (2014) New approaches to facilitate rapid domestication of a wild plant to an oilseed crop: example pennycress (*Thlaspi arvensi* L.). *Plant Sci.* 227, 122-132.
- Shah, J. (2003) The salicylic acid loop in plant defense. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 6, 365-371.
- Silverman, P., Seskar, M., Kanter, D., Schweizer, P., Metraux, J.P. Raskin, I. (1995) Salicylic acid in rice (biosynthesis, conjugation, and possible role). *Plant Physiol.* **108**, 633-639.

- Slotte, T., Hazzouri, K.M., Ågren, J.A., et al. (2013) The Capsella rubella genome and the genomic consequences of rapid mating system evolution. Nat. Genet. 45, 831-835.
- **Spoel, S.H., Koornneef, A, Claessens, S.M.** *et al.* (2003) NPR1 modulates cross-talk between salicylate- and jasmonate-dependent defense pathways through a novel function in the cytosol. *Plant Cell*, **15**, 760-770.
- Spoel, S.H., Johnson, J.S., Dong, X. (2007) Regulation of tradeoffs between plant defences against pathogens with different lifestyles. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 104, 18842-18847.
- Spoel, S.H., Dong, X. (2008) Making sense of hormone crosstalk during plant immune responses. *Cell Host Microbe.* **3**, 348-351.
- Staal, J., Kaliff, M., Bohman, S., Dixelius, C. (2006) Transgressive segregation reveals two Arabidopsis TIR-NB-LRR resistance genes effective against *Leptosphaeria maculans*, causal agent of blackleg disease. *Plant J.* 46, 218-230.
- Staal, J., Kaliff, M., Dewaele, E., Persson, M., Dixelius, C. (2008) *RLM3*, a TIR domain encoding gene involved in broad-range immunity of Arabidopsis to necrotrophic fungal pathogens. *Plant J.* 55, 188-200.
- Stall, R.E., Jones, J.B., Minsavage, G.V. (2009) Durability of resistance in tomato and pepper to Xanthomonads causing bacterial spot. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 47, 265-284.
- Stirnweis, D., Milani, S.D., Brunner, S., Herren, G., Buchmann, G., Peditto, D., Jordan, T., Keller, B. (2014) Suppression among alleles encoding nucleotide-bindingleucine-rich repeat resistance proteins interferes with resistance in F₁ hybrid and allelepyramided wheat plants. *Plant J.* **79**, 893-903.
- Sommerville, C., Koornneef, M. (2002) A fortunate choice: the history of *Arabidopsis* as a model plant. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 883-889.
- Strange, R.N., Scott, P.R. (2005) Plant Disease: a threat to global food security. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **43**, 83-116.
- Tai, T.H., Dahlbeck, D., Clark, E.T., Gaijwala, P., Pasion, R., Whalen, M.C., Stall, R.E., Staskawicz, B.J. (1999) Expression of the *Bs2* pepper gene confers resistance to bacterial spot disease in tomato. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 96, 14153-14158.
- Tan, X., Meyers, B.C., Kozik, A., West, M., Morgante, M., St Clair, D.A., Bent, A.F., Michelmore, R.W. (2007) Global expression analysis of nucleotide binding site-leucine rich repeat-encoding and related in Arabidopsis. *BMC Plant Biol.* 7, 56.
- Tan, S., Wu, S. (2012) Genome wide analysis of nucleotide-binding site disease resistance genes in *Brachypodium distachyon. Comp. Funct. Genom.* 2012, 418208.
- Tarr, D.E., Alexander, H.M. (2009) TIR-NBS-LRR genes are rare in monocots: evidence from diverse monocot orders. *BMC Res. Notes*, 2, 197.
- Thaler, J.S., Humphrey, P.T., Whiteman, N.K. (2012) Evolution of jasmonate and salicylate signal crosstalk. *Trends Plant Sci.* 17, 260–270.
- Turner, W.R., Oppenheimer, M., Wilcove, D.S. (2009) A force to fight global warming. *Nature*, 462, 278-279.
- **U**, **N**. (1935) Genome analysis in *Brassica* with special reference to the experimental formation of *B. napus* and peculiar mode of fertilization. *Jap. J. Bot.* **7**, 389-452.
- Van de Wouw, A.P., Lowe, R.G., Elliott, C.E., Dubois, D.J., Howlett, B.J. (2014) An avirulence gene, *AvrLmJ1*, from the blackleg fungus, *Leptosphaeria maculans*, confers avirulence to *Brassica juncea* cultivars. *Mol. Plant. Pathol.* **15**, 523-530.
- van der Ent, S., Pieterse, C.M.J. (2012) Ethylene: multi-tasker in plant-attacker interactions. in *Annu. Plant Rev*, ed McManus M.T., editor (Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell), 343-377.
- van Kan, J.A. (2006) Licensed to kill: the lifestyle of a necrotrophic plant pathogen. *Trends Plant Sci.* **118**, 247-253.
- Vleeshouwers, V.G., Rietman, H., Krenek, P., et al. (2008) Effector genomics accelerates discovery and functional profiling of potato disease resistance and *Phytophthora infestans* avirulence genes. *PLoS One*, 3, e2875.

- Vleeshouwers, V.G., Oliver, R.P. (2014) Effectors as tools in disease resistance breeding against biotrophic, hemibiotrophic, and necrotrophic plant pathogens. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 27, 196-206.
- Wang, X., Wang, H., Wang, J. et al. (2011) The genome of the mesopolyploid crop species Brassica rapa. Nat. Genet. 43, 1035-1039.
- Warwick, S.I. (2011) Brassicaceae in Agriculture. *Genetics and Genomics of the Brassicaceae* Edited by Schmidt, R. and Bancroft, I., Springer.
- Weigel, D., Mott, R. (2009) The 1001 genomes project for *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Genome Biol.* **10**, 107.
- Wirthmueller, L., Roth, C., Fabro, G., *et al.* (2015) Probing formation of cargo/importin- α transport complexes in plant cells using a pathogen effector. *Plant J.* **81**, 40-52.
- Wolf, J.B. (2013) Principles of transcriptome analysis and gene expression quantification: an RNA-seq tutorial. *Mol. Ecol. Resour.* **13**, 559-572.
- Wu, Y., Zhou, J.M. (2013) Receptor-like kinases in plant innate immunity. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 55, 1271-1286.
- Yang, H., Shi, Y., Liu, J., Guo, L., Zhang, X., Yang, S. (2010) A mutant CHS3 protein with TIR-NB-LRR-LIM domains modulates growth, cell death and freezing tolerance in a temperature-dependent manner in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J.* 63, 283-296.
- Yang, D.L., Yang, Y., He, Z. (2013a) Roles of plant hormones and their interplay in rice immunity. *Mol. Plant.* 6, 675-685.
- Yang, R., Jarvis, D.E., Chen, H., et al. (2013b) The reference genome of the halophytic plant Eutrema salsugineum. Front. Plant Sci. 4, 46.
- Yang, S., Li, J., Zhang, X., Zhang, Q., Huang, J., Chen, J.Q., Hartl, D.L., Tian, D. (2013c) Rapidly evolving *R* genes in diverse grass species confer resistance to rice blast disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 110, 18572-18577.
- Xue, J.Y., Wang, Y., Wu, P., Wang, Q., Yang, L.T., Pan, X.H., Wang, B., Chen, J.Q. (2012) A primary survey on bryophyte species reveals two novel classes of nucleotidebinding site (NBS) genes. *PLoS One*, 7, e36700.
- Yue, J.X, Meyers, B.C., Chen, J.Q., Tian, D., Yang, S. (2012) Tracing the origin and evolutionary history of plant nucleotide-binding site-leucine-rich repeat (*NBS-LRR*) genes. *New Phytol.* **193**, 1049-1063.
- Zander, M., Patel, D.A., Van de Wouw, A. Lai, K., Lorenc, M.T. Campbell, E., Hayward, A., Edwards, D., Raman, H., Batley, J. (2013). Identifying genetic diversity of avirulence genes in *Leptosphaeria maculans* using whole genome sequencing. *Funct. Integr. Genomics*, 13, 295-308.
- Zhang, J.Z., Creelman, R.A., Zhu, J.K. (2004). From laboratory to fuel. Using information from Arabidopsis to engineer salt, cold, and drought tolerance in crops. *Plant Physiol.* **135**, 615-621.
- Zhen, Y., Ungerer, M.C. (2008). Clinal variation in freezing tolerance among natural accessions of Arabidopsis thaliana. New Phytol. 177, 419-427.
- Zhu, Q., Zheng, X., Luo, J., Gaut, B.S., Ge, S. (2007) Multilocus analysis of nucleotide variation of *Oryza sativa* and its wild relatives: severe bottleneck during domestication of rice. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 24, 875-888.
- Zou, X., Suppanz, I., Raman, H., Hou, J., Wang, J., Long, Y., Jung, C., Meng J. (2012) Comparative analysis of *FLC* homologues in Brassicaceae provides insight into their role in the evolution of oilseed rape. *PLoS One*, **7**, e45751.

Acknowledgements

I have enjoyed my PhD a great deal and had many wonderful experiences at the department of Plant Biology.

First of all, I would like to acknowledge my supervisor, **Christina Dixelius** for your supervision and providing this opportunity to do my PhD at this department. I have very much appreciated your dedication and hard work. You have allowed me freedom in my research as well as giving me guidance. I also wish to thank my co-supervisor, **Olof Emanuelsson**, you were mainly a great help in the beginning of my PhD, when I had zero experience in programming and bioinformatics. Thanks for all your help in these areas. And off course **Sarosh Bejai**. I am very happy that I have had the pleasure of working with you. I loved your dedication and support whenever I needed it. Even when the stress levels were sky high, you remained your calm self.

The people that were involved in my 50%, 75% and 18 week evaluation, thank you so much for your input and time; **Magnus Karlsson, Mattias Thelander**, **Sofia Berlin Kolm** and **Ann-Christin Rönnberg Wästljung**.

From my group I would especially like to thank **Na Guan** for being such a lovely office mate and college. I loved working together with you on the *Leptosphaeria* projects. Also thanks to **Vera Montiel** on your dedication with the different shared projects and off course the nice lunch time chats! I really appreciated your feedback in my projects **Tim Kamber** and the nice conversations. **Anna Åsman** for the dedication in keeping the lab a tidy place and helping out with all the small things. And **Johan Fogelqvist** for your very patient help with the bioinformatics. **Jonas Roos** for helping me out with watering plants and labwork. **Sultana Jahan** for your kindness and the small chats we had every now and then. And **Anna Carlson** for being a lovely new office mate. **Arne Schwelm** for all the interesting discussions we have had. And **Ramesh Vetukuri** and **Laura Vetukuri** for not only being nice colleges but good friends offering me Indian food every now and then. **Gunilla Swärd** for your great help in the last months of my PhD. And past and current

members; Moses Biruma, Tom Martin, Wilton Mbinda, Mattias Myrenås, Shinichi Oide, Tina Olsson, Muhammad Naeem Sattar, Gunilla Swärd, Georgios Tzelepis, thank you all for creating a nice atmosphere in the lab and during our meetings.

During my PhD I managed to crash three computers, changed my computer settings to Italian without knowing how to change it back and so many other problems that would have been much worse if it hadn't been for the computer support. So thank you **Björn Nicander** for your much appreciated help throughout the years. I would also like to thank **Urban Pettersson** and **Per Linden** for their excellent care of the plant growing facilities. And also thanks to **Eva Sundberg**, **Monica Beergrehn**, **Qing Heijkensköjld**, **Lotta Olsson**, **Mona Munther** and **Anneli Rimmer** for your hard work keeping the department running smoothly.

During my time here I had several people helping me out with small things in and outside my work as a PhD student. I want to thank **Pascal Pucholt** with helping me to fix my lock on my bike so I could bike home after a long day in the lab. You are still my bike-fixing-hero! Thanks to Christina Roberts for your valuable expertise with the root growth experiments and off course for the nice conversations every time we would run into each other. Rita Batista for all the great chats we had in and outside of work. Andrea Claes for the lovely time we shared together at the department but also outside of work. Iva Mozgova for organizing the Friday beers and the nice talks we had. Saher Mehdi, Alexandra Olarte Guasca and Minerva Trejo for organizing a great birthday dinner and being so friendly. And Malin Abrahamsson, Selsuk Aslan, Urlike Beuch, Catarina Cardosa, Lei Conze Liu, Marie Englund, Ingrid Eriksson, Gunnar Flygh, Matthew Gentry, Margherita Grasso, Emilio Gutierrez, Anders Hafrén, Rocky Hatorangen, Alexandre Huchelman, Duarte Figueiredo, Jennifer de Jonge, Anders Kvarnheden, Clément Lafon-Placette, Estelle Lerceteau-Köhler, Irine Merino, Alyona Minina, Adérito Monjane, Kanita Orozovic, Jordi Moreno Romero, Panos Nakamura, Vera Victoria Moschou. Mivuki Sanchez. Stefan Schwarzbach, Thaís da Silva, Philip Wolff, Cecilia Wärdig for all the nice chats in and outside work and being the lovely people that you all are.

And thank you everyone that joined in the Friday 'fika' every week. I have really enjoyed the different cakes and other goodies you have shared over the years. Thank you so much for all your hard work to make this a lovely event for everyone.

I also had the pleasure to guide several students; **Carl-Fredrik Johnzon**, **Anna Jonsson** and **Louise Lidemalm**. Not only did you help me out a lot with the experiments, but taught me valuable lessons on how to supervise others and becoming more organized.

Hierbij wil ik ook mijn geweldige ouders, Gerrit en Christina Peele bedanken. Zeker voor al die keren dat jullie naar Zweden zijn gekomen om me te helpen met verhuizen. Altijd weer leuke gesprekken via skype en gezellige vakantie's samen. Ik hou van jullie! En natuurlijk mijn lieve zusje, Karin Peele. Je bent een geweldig persoon en mogen we nog vele jaren met elkaar doorbrengen. Ik hou van je. En natuurlijk, mijn 'kleine' broertje Frank Peele, bedankt voor het helpen met het vinden van een nieuwe computer en voor het helpen met mijn verhuizing hier in het koude Zweden. En de nieuwe aanhang, Wouter Ijsebrands en Kelly Karnage ook jullie zijn een deel van mijn leven geworden. Allebei fantastische mensen. Als laatste ook mijn twee geweldige vriendinnen, Selma en Aline Nieman. Het was altijd weer gezellig wanneer jullie hier in Zweden waren. En natuurlijk de vele gespreken via skype waren fantastisch en heel erg bedankt voor de hulp in mijn laatste week. Heel erg bedankt!